council@shoalhaven.nsw.gov.au | www.shoalhaven.nsw.gov.au

Homelessness Taskforce Shoalhaven

Meeting Date:Monday, 30 July, 2018Location:Jervis Bay Rooms, City Administrative Centre, Bridge Road, Nowra

Attachments (Under Separate Cover)

Index

5. Reports

HT18.8	NSW Homeles	sness Strategy 2018-2023	
	Attachment 1	Attachment 1 NSW-Homelessness-Strategy-2018- 2023	2





NSW Homelessness Strategy

2018-2023



Contents

A message from the Minister
A framework for preventing homelessness
Our vision
How we got here 6
Scope of the Strategy 6
What we are building on
Housing and homelessness
Justice
Domestic and family violence
Mental health
Disability
Education 9
Children, young people and families
Understanding the prevalence and impact of homelessness
Children and young people
Women and children leaving domestic and family violence
Older people
People with mental health issues
People experiencing chronic homelessness or sleeping rough
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people
LGBTIQ people
Culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) people
Regional and rural areas
Action Plan - Overview



FOCUS 1: Prevention and early intervention
What the evidence says
Early identification of risk is the key to more effective prevention
Supporting at-risk tenancies can help prevent people reaching crisis point
Transition points are periods of instability for many people14
What we will do
FOCUS 2: Effective supports and responses
What the evidence says
Housing First approaches can help prevent chronic homelessness
Assertive outreach and access to quality health care can help people who are sleeping rough transition to housing
Vulnerable young people can be supported to transition to independence
Supports need to be person-centred
Alternate social housing options can better meet the needs of different groups 20
What we will do
FOCUS 3: An integrated, person-centred service system
What the evidence says
Service integration is a key part of a person-centred response
Quality systems and a focus on outcomes
Trauma-informed and culturally appropriate practice leads to better outcomes
What we will do
Implementation Plan
Acronyms
Glossary
References 38

A message from the Minister



I am delighted to present the NSW Government's Homelessness Strategy 2018–2023. Our goal is that by working together with our non-government organisation partners and across government we will create a system that is able to prevent and respond more effectively to homelessness. Only by creating an effective system that recognises the complex nature of homelessness and responds holistically can we help break the cycle of disadvantage and support people to live happier more secure lives.

The Strategy sets the direction for the next five years, focusing on prevention responses that address the root causes of homelessness, and early intervention responses that will reduce the longer term impact of homelessness.

Homelessness is not just a housing problem. Every person experiencing homelessness has a different story – the causes of homelessness are complex and play out in different ways. For some people, experiencing homelessness is an isolated event; other people will cycle in and out of homelessness, unable to find and sustain housing for more than a temporary period.

The NSW Homelessness Strategy delivers a framework for action that enables agencies and services to identify vulnerability early, help manage the risk factors that make a person vulnerable, and reduce the complexity of the service system. For the first time, we have established accountability across government so that all agencies – including Family and Community Services, Health, Education, and Justice – share responsibility for preventing homelessness.

The NSW Government's 2018/19 Budget commits more than \$1 billion to homelessness services over the next four years to support new and existing initiatives, with \$61 million of new funding over four years to implement the NSW Homelessness Strategy.

We recognise that the system – government, and the private and community sectors – must collaborate more effectively to ensure people in need receive personalised, holistic and responsive services. We are taking steps to make the service system more integrated, and we will put people at the centre of the system.

The Strategy follows an intensive consultation process across NSW with hundreds of participants from a range of agencies and organisations, people with lived experience of homelessness, and people from groups who are at increased risk of homelessness. The experiences, themes and messages we heard have been developed into the NSW Homelessness Strategy.

Together we can intervene early to prevent homelessness, reduce chronic homelessness, and break the cycle of disadvantage.

PRU GOWARD Minister for Family and Community Services Minister for Social Housing Minister for the Prevention of Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault

A framework for preventing homelessness

Our vision

On Census night in 2016, more than 37,000 people in NSW were experiencing homelessness.¹ Having a safe and secure home - something that most people take for granted - is out of reach for too many.

The NSW Homelessness Strategy sets out the NSW Government's plan for a comprehensive approach to prevent and improve the way we respond to homelessness. It is a framework for action that will enable government agencies, the non-government sector, and the community to collaborate and act to reduce the impact of homelessness on individuals, and improve outcomes for people and families. For the first time, we have established clear accountability across government so that all agencies and mainstream services (such as Family and Community Services, Health, Justice, and Education) share responsibility for preventing homelessness and increasing access to services for people experiencing or at risk of homelessness.

Absolute growth in homelessness over the past decade has been significant. On Census night in 2016, over 37,000 people were homeless in NSW - nearly 10,236 people or 37 per cent more than 2011. The number of people seeking assistance from specialist homelessness services (SHS) has also continued to increase. Between 2013/14 and 2016/17 alone, the number of people assisted increased by 43 per cent, up to 74,216.2 In addition to those assisted by SHS, almost 25,000 households were provided temporary accommodation in 2016/17.3

An effective response to homelessness means creating a system that is able to intervene early and put people at the centre. It means giving people choice and restoring dignity. It means doing more of what we know works while looking for new ways to prevent homelessness. It means being able to deliver effective interventions at scale.

The NSW Government's 2018/19 Budget commits more than \$1 billion for homelessness services over the next four years to support new and existing initiatives.

That includes \$61 million of new funding over the next four years to implement the Homelessness Strategy, with more assertive outreach services for rough sleepers, strengthened risk assessment to address the underlying complexity behind each person's homelessness and more support to maintain a tenancy.

The new funding over four years includes:

- social impact investment
- \$20 million for homelessness \$6.9 million for co-located homeless-health services \$6.2 million to expand

Staying Home Leaving

Violence to five new sites

- \$10.6 million for sustaining tenancies supports \$9.1 million for additional
- transitional accommodation

- \$4.7 million for universal risk screening and supports
- \$3.8 million for assertive outreach to support rough sleepers

In addition to this investment \$1.1 billion has been allocated by the NSW Government to deliver the Social and Affordable Housing Fund that is delivering 3,400 new social and affordable housing dwellings with support over the next 25 years. We are also investing in social housing and the Communities Plus renewal program.

By creating an effective system that recognises the complex nature of homelessness and responds holistically, we will help break the cycle of disadvantage and support people to live safer, more stable and happier lives. We will continue to build the evidence about what works in preventing and reducing homelessness. We will drive systemic change that helps keep people at the centre of the response, provides them with choice, and supports them to access the help they need as soon as they need it.

Our vision is that by working together we will:

- Build a mainstream service system that is able to intervene early to prevent homelessness and break disadvantage
- Increase access to supports, including housing, that prevent homelessness and reentry into homelessness
- Create an integrated, personcentred service system

How we got here

In 2016, we released the *Foundations for Change Discussion Paper* and sought the views of people, groups and organisations across NSW about the changes we need to make to the way we respond to homelessness in NSW.

Through this comprehensive state-wide consultation process, we received 120 written submissions from members of the community, non-government organisations, stakeholder representative groups, advocacy groups, government agencies and legal services. We brought together 430 participants from government and non-government agencies in 15 district consultations, helping us to map and understand regional differences in the experience of demand for homelessness support and service provision.

We also asked independent specialists to speak confidentially and openly with people with a lived experience of homelessness. Through these interviews and small group consultations, we heard the stories of people who had left prison, who had left domestic and family violence, who were sleeping rough, Aboriginal people, older people, and young people from across NSW.

The experiences, themes and messages we heard have been developed into the NSW Homelessness Strategy.

The Strategy builds on learnings from the *NSW Homelessness Action Plan 2009-2014* and *Going Home Staying Home*. It continues the shift from predominantly crisis-driven responses to prevention responses that address the contributing causes of homelessness, and early intervention responses that reduce chronic homelessness.

Scope of the Strategy

This Strategy recognises that homelessness is not just a housing problem. A person's pathway into homelessness is driven by the intersection of structural drivers, risk factors, and protective factors.

- Structural drivers: The structural drivers for homelessness include housing affordability, labour market forces, a reliance on income support, and intergenerational poverty.
- Risk factors: Individual risk factors include unemployment, financial stress, family breakdown, domestic and family violence, trauma, mental health issues, drug or alcohol dependence, and a history of contact with state institutions.
- Protective factors: Protective factors include employment, financial security, involvement in school
 or community, healthy family relationships, and access to and integration of services.

The NSW Government is currently implementing a range of reforms that will help address the structural drivers of homelessness, such as *Future Directions for Social Housing in NSW*.

This Strategy builds on these reforms, providing a new approach to identifying people at risk of homelessness and putting effective supports in place to reduce that risk. The Strategy prioritises more effective responses and services for people who are experiencing homelessness. And, importantly, it emphasises people over process – helping to build a system that is integrated and coordinated so that the person is at the centre of the response.

We have established three focus areas for delivering our new approach to homelessness: Focus 1: Prevention and early intervention Focus 2: Better access to support and services Focus 3: An integrated, person-centred system

What we are building on

Because of the complex intersections between the risks and drivers of homelessness and protective factors, an effective homelessness system depends on individual service systems working effectively alone as well as working effectively together to provide integrated supports.

In order for this Strategy to be effective, it depends on and links to other state and Commonwealth services and systems. Access to Commonwealth income supports (including Commonwealth Rental Assistance, family supports and crisis payments), funding through the National Disability Insurance Scheme, primary health networks and specialist supports, an effective social housing system, and early intervention family supports are all critical to ensuring that we can work together to prevent and respond to homelessness.

The NSW Government is pursuing an ambitious reform agenda to deliver better services, protect vulnerable people, and improve social and economic outcomes for the people of NSW.

Reforms in family and community services, social housing, education, justice and mental health aim to shift those systems to person-centred service delivery with a greater focus on outcomes. These new approaches enable more flexible responses to the different needs of people to help them live more positive lives, reduce the need for crisis support, and break the cycle of disadvantage.

By building on current reforms we can ensure homelessness is recognised in key policy areas across the NSW Government.

Housing and homelessness

Reforms to the social housing and homelessness systems aim to increase the supply of social and affordable housing in NSW, improve access to services, and provide a wider range of supports that prevent crisis.

Future Directions for Social Housing in NSW aims to increase the supply of social housing in NSW through innovative programs. The Social and Affordable Housing Fund will increase access to 2,200 additional social and affordable homes in its first phase, and 1,200 homes in its second phase. *Communities Plus* will deliver up to 23,000 new and replacement social housing dwellings, 500 affordable housing dwellings, and up to 40,000 private housing dwellings.

We are also delivering a range of products that assist people to gain tenancies in the private rental market. This includes bond loans, advance rent, arrears assistance, private rental brokerage and Rent Choice subsidies. Rent Choice is a time limited private rental subsidy for up to three years and facilitates access to support services, including training and employment opportunities, to build capacity for independent living. Rent Choice products include Rent Choice Start Safely, Rent Choice Youth and Rent Choice Veterans.

Staying Home Leaving Violence supports people experiencing domestic violence to stay safely in their own home and is available in 27 locations across NSW.

In 2018/19 the NSW Government will spend over \$200 million to provide generalised *Specialist Homelessness Services*, including accommodation and a range of supports for people experiencing or at risk of homelessness. This includes the *Domestic Violence Response Enhancement* which ensures that women and children escaping domestic and family violence can access emergency accommodation and/or support 24 hours a day, 7 days a week where geographically possible. **Ghoalhaven** City Council

The Homelessness Outreach Support Team (HOST) aims to provide immediate access to housing assessment and a rapid rehousing response into social housing for all eligible people willing to work with the Department of Family and Community Services (FACS) and support services. HOST delivers homelessness intensive outreach and regular outreach patrols across the inner city of Sydney, in partnership with homelessness services, local Council, Health and Police. FACS works with homelessness support providers and Health to wrap post-crisis support around clients who have been housed and need more sustained support.

Through the Supported Transition Engagement Program (STEP) the NSW Government is investing \$22 million over four years to provide support to people sleeping rough. This includes \$20.3 million to deliver 120 housing and support packages in the inner city of Sydney and regional NSW, and around \$1.7 million for additional post-crisis supports for people housed through FACS-led outreach activity.

The Premier's Priority to reduce youth homelessness aims to increase the proportion of young people who successfully move from specialist homelessness services to long-term accommodation to more than 34 per cent by 2019.

The current results against the target are that 31.3 per cent of young people (1,711 of 5,462) who presented alone to a specialist homelessness service from unstable accommodation achieved stable long-term accommodation in 2016-17. The priority focuses on prevention, improving support and increasing housing options.

The NSW Government has committed \$10 million per year over four years to the Premier's Youth Initiative which is piloting a new approach to support vulnerable young people leaving out-of-home care. They will be provided with a combination of personal advice, mentoring, support and accommodation to help them transition to independence.

Rent Choice Youth is available in targeted locations through funding of about \$4 million a year to support these young people to find a place to rent, get a lease and maintain it – with subsidised rent for up to three years tapered to promote independence. It also supports young people to find study and job opportunities so they will be able to afford the rent on their own.

The Aboriginal Housing Office is currently developing the *Aboriginal Housing Strategy* that will deliver locally-informed, evidence-based housing solutions for Aboriginal people and communities, delivered by Aboriginal providers.

Justice

The Department of Justice is rolling out the *Strategy to Reduce Reoffending*, which includes a focus on increasing reintegration outcomes by identifying a person's needs upon their entry to prison, and immediately planning for their exit.

The *Civil Justice Strategy* will set out a blueprint for a range of reforms that are designed to help people resolve common legal problems before they escalate into court and tribunal proceedings. Key actions that relate to housing include additional investment in financial counselling and tenancy support services, which assist people to resolve housing disputes, negotiate realistic payment plans and avoid eviction.

The *Civil Justice Strategy* will also consider a pilot program to assist families in community housing who have fallen behind on rent to avoid eviction. A micro-pilot of a similar program, which commenced in mid-2016, has so far successfully helped 16 families on the brink of eviction to maintain their tenancies and recently won the Australasian Housing Institute's Innovation in Social Housing award.⁴

Domestic and family violence

The NSW Domestic and Family Violence Blueprint for Reform 2016-2021: Safer Lives for Women, Men and *Children* increases the focus on the need for prevention and early intervention to reduce demand for crisis and recovery services, and address the causes and symptoms of domestic and family violence (DFV).



Mental Health

Living Well: A Strategic Plan for Mental Health in NSW was launched in 2014. It aims to improve the mental health and wellbeing of people in the community and ensure that people with moderate to severe mental illness are supported to remain well within communities and lead their own recovery.

Disability

The *National Disability Insurance Scheme* (NDIS) provides all Australians under the age of 65 who have a permanent and significant disability with the reasonable and necessary supports they need to enjoy an ordinary life. The NDIS provides an unprecedented opportunity for people with disability to live more independently in housing of their choice with the services they need.

Education

Through *Supported Students, Successful Students,* the Department of Education is providing funding to help schools support vulnerable young people to help them develop their character and wellbeing, and stay engaged with learning.

Children, young people and families

The NSW Government is committed to improving the lives of vulnerable children, young people and their families with better laws, policies, systems and practices.

The *Premier's Youth Initiative* is piloting a new approach that supports vulnerable young people leaving out-of-home care (OOHC). Young people are being provided with a combination of personal advice, education and employment mentoring, transitional accommodation support and long-term accommodation to help them transition to independence.

Targeted Earlier Intervention reform provides an opportunity to review the current system to maximise the reach and impact of services. It is consolidating six existing early intervention programs into a single cohesive service system to improve people's experience, so that families and communities with the greatest needs can access services that maximise positive outcomes.

Their Futures Matter – a new approach to child protection and wellbeing in NSW sets out a whole of government, long-term approach to improve life outcomes for vulnerable children and families. Services will be evidence-based and delivered to meet individual need, with investment aligned to long-term outcomes.

Understanding the prevalence and impact of homelessness

Homelessness has significant and lasting impacts on individuals and families. It is related to poor health, higher rates of mental illness, and future employment problems, as well as more frequent use of health, justice and welfare services.⁵

For some people, experiencing homelessness is an isolated event – it happens once for a short time. Other people will cycle in and out of homelessness, unable to find and sustain housing for more than a temporary period.⁶

Children and young people

Young people can be particularly vulnerable to the risk of homelessness and the ongoing impacts it can have on future opportunities. The number of people aged 24 years or younger accessing SHS increased by 37 per cent between 2013/14 and 2016/17, totalling more than 36,000 in 2016/17 and representing nearly half of all SHS clients.⁷ On Census night in 2016, young people made up almost 19 per cent of the NSW general population but 24 per cent of the homeless population.⁸

Ninety per cent of young people experiencing homelessness have witnessed violence in their home, 60 per cent have been in OOHC, and 50 per cent have a reported mental health issue.⁹

Young people leaving OOHC who left school in Year 9 or 10 are 32 per cent more likely to access SHS compared to those who completed Year 12.¹⁰

Children who experience homelessness have increased risk of long-term poverty, homelessness in adulthood, unemployment, and chronic ill-health.¹¹ They are less likely to finish school than their peers,¹² and more likely to need health support and have involvement with the justice system compared to a young employed person.¹³ Early school leavers are two and a half times more likely to be unemployed, earn lower wages, have poorer health, or be involved in criminal activities.¹⁴

Women and children leaving domestic and family violence

Domestic and family violence (DFV) is a leading cause of homelessness among women and children, with one third of people accessing SHS reporting experiencing DFV.¹⁶ Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women are over-represented in this group. Despite only making up 3.3 per cent of the national population, one quarter of people in Australia accessing SHS due to DFV identify as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander.¹⁶

Older people

There is a growing trend for people to become homeless in later life for the first time, particularly amongst women.¹⁷ More than 15 per cent of people experiencing homelessness are over the age of 55 and this figure is increasing.¹⁸ Between 2013/14 and 2016/17, NSW saw 88 per cent growth in the number of women over the age of 55 years accessing homelessness services.¹⁹

Older people face increasing challenges such as low incomes, retirement with low superannuation, discrimination and health risks. They are especially vulnerable when they have complex circumstances such as mental health issues, financial stress, isolation or past experience of DFV.²⁰ Women over 45 who experience homelessness are also more likely to remain homeless for a longer period of time.²¹

People with mental health issues

The incidence of mental illness amongst the homeless population is significantly higher than the general population. In 2016/17, one third of people seeking assistance from SHS reported having a current mental health condition.²² The links between mental health issues, unstable housing and homelessness are significant, with estimates of between 50 and 80 per cent of homeless youth having some experience of mental illness.²³

People experiencing chronic homelessness or sleeping rough

The number of people who are sleeping rough who access SHS has been steadily increasing – between 2013/14 and 2016/17, this figure increased by 56 per cent to more than 5,500 people across NSW.²⁴ The trend of people sleeping rough in inner city Sydney has been increasing since 2013. In February 2017, 433 people were sleeping rough in inner city Sydney, compared with 274 in February 2013.²⁵ People who are sleeping rough exhibit high rates of health problems, mental disorder, trauma, cognitive impairment, suicide and other premature deaths.²⁶ Up to 60 per cent have complex physical, mental health and disability support needs. Almost two thirds of people who are sleeping rough who have a mental health issue also have issues with drug or alcohol abuse.²⁷

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Aboriginal disadvantage and homelessness are closely linked, with homelessness increasing the social and economic disadvantage faced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people (hereafter Aboriginal). Housing is a key factor in the health and life expectancy gap between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Australians,²⁸ and a key mechanism for continued intergenerational disadvantage.²⁹

Despite making up less than 3 per cent of the NSW population, Aboriginal people make up almost 8 per cent of the NSW homeless population and almost 30 per cent of SHS users.³⁰ Across Australia, Indigenous Australians are 14 times more likely to become homeless than other Australians, and their homelessness situations are likely to be more severe.³¹ Seven in 10 Aboriginal people who experience homelessness have a parent who experienced homelessness at some point.³²

It is important to recognise the cultural and spiritual aspects of home for Aboriginal people, as homelessness may not be defined as a lack of accommodation. A person may not have conventional accommodation, however may have a sense of home, a sense of belonging to a place, and recognition and acceptance in that place. A category of spiritual homelessness is also acknowledged, in recognition that a person may experience separation from traditional land, or from family and kinship networks, or a crisis of cultural identity.³³

The NSW Homelessness Strategy will connect to the *Aboriginal Housing Strategy*, helping to build the system's understanding of cultural and spiritual aspects of homelessness and strengthen service responses.

LGBTIQ people

There is increasing evidence that lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex, and queer or questioning (LGBTIQ) people are at higher risk of homelessness compared to the general population and may experience more significant consequences as a result. In 2014, the General Social Survey in Australia identified that more than one third of lesbian/gay people and more than 20 per cent of bisexual people had experienced homelessness, compared with less than 14 per cent of heterosexuals.³⁴ While the pathways to homelessness for LGBTIQ people are similar to that of other groups, the experience of family rejection and discrimination adds to the complexity of their experiences and can lead to chronic homelessness.³⁵

Culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) people

People from CALD backgrounds may have increased vulnerability to homelessness due to additional barriers, such as limited proficiency in English, which can make prevention and early intervention difficult.³⁶ CALD women and children escaping family violence may experience additional barriers, such as difficulty finding accommodation that enables them to remain connected to family and community, or discrimination when trying to access accommodation, long term housing and other supports to resolve homelessness.³⁷

Young refugees are six times more likely to become homeless than other young people. The temporary, transitory, and often overcrowded nature of accommodation common to newly arrived migrants and refugees qualifies as many as 33 per cent as homeless at some point after arriving in Australia.³⁸

Regional and rural areas

For people living in regional and rural areas, it can be more difficult to escape homelessness because of limited housing options, education, and employment opportunities. Access to disability, health and other specialist services is constrained in some areas, and many services have difficulties recruiting and retaining staff. People needing to travel long distances for medical or court appointments may need to secure overnight accommodation without necessarily having the means to do so.

Access to SHS in regional and rural areas is growing faster than the rate for metropolitan areas of NSW, with 75 per cent growth of regional clients accessing SHS between 2013/14 and 2016/17.³⁹ Two in five people who access SHS are living outside of major cities.⁴⁰ Across Australia, the rate of people seeking SHS support with their children is higher in regional and rural areas, and service use in remote/very remote areas was 2.6 times higher than in major cities.⁴¹ Around 40 per cent of people sleeping rough in NSW are outside major cities.⁴²

Action Plan - Overview

FOCUS AREA 1 Intervening early and preventing crisis

Increase early identification of at-risk groups

Who will benefit? Building the evidence base, working with young people to address risk early, low income families, families and individuals in financial hardship, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas

Support people to maintain tenancies and avoid entering the homelessness system

Who will benefit? Early intervention, low income families, families and individuals in financial hardship, older people, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas

Prevent exits from government services into homelessness

Who will benefit? Improving transitions from government services

FOCUS AREA 2 Providing effective supports and responses

Strengthen Housing First in NSW to reduce rough sleeping and prevent chronic homelessness through flexible, tailored supports

Who will benefit? People who are sleeping rough, people with mental illness, people with high or complex needs, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas

Provide targeted housing options to prevent homelessness or chronic homelessness for high risk groups

Who will benefit? Women and children leaving domestic and family violence, young people leaving OOHC, low income families and individuals, older women, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas

Provide choice and the right supports for people to address the issues putting them at risk of homelessness and to reduce repeat homelessness

Who will benefit? People who are sleeping rough, women and children leaving domestic and family violence, young people, older people, families and individuals in financial hardship, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas FOCUS AREA 3 Creating an integrated, person-centred service system

Improve accountability by agencies and services for homelessness outcomes in order to drive systemic change

Who will benefit? All groups, with a specific emphasis on people with high or complex needs

Increase service integration and collaboration to enhance person-centred responses

Who will benefit? All groups, with a specific emphasis on people with high or complex needs

Improve services by increasing traumainformed care and culturally appropriate practice

Who will benefit? All groups, with a specific emphasis on Aboriginal people, people with high or complex needs, rural and regional areas with high or complex needs, rural and regional areas

FOCUS 1 Prevention and early intervention

The NSW Government will use mainstream services to maximise opportunities to identify people who are at risk early, particularly young people; support people to maintain their tenancies and ensure that people do not exit government services into homelessness. We will build the evidence on effective prevention and early intervention, exploring opportunities to use behavioural insights approaches and social impact investment to understand and evaluate effective intervention options.

What the evidence says

Early identification of risk is the key to more effective prevention

There are a number of critical points in a person's pathway to experiencing homelessness, and targeting supports at these points will help prevent people from experiencing homelessness.

Mainstream service systems, such as schools, are prime locations for identifying people at risk of homelessness, including young people. At one time or another, young people will access health services, participate in education up to some point, and may receive support from Centrelink. Mainstream services have a unique opportunity for population or broad-based screening for risk and early response for young people in particular, but also for families and individuals accessing preventative or general supports as well as specialist or acute services.

We know there has been an increase in severe overcrowding in NSW. The 2016 ABS data shows that the people living in severe overcrowding constitute 45 per cent of all homeless people in NSW. This is an emerging issue. We need to better understand overcrowding as a form of homelessness, understand the factors contributing to it, and explore ways to identify and link people to services.

Supporting at-risk tenancies can help prevent people reaching crisis point

Early intervention strategies can effectively work with people when tenancies become unstable. This applies to both tenancies in the private market and in social housing. In 2015/16 and 2016/17, 9 per cent (2,107) of social housing tenancies in NSW were terminated due to breach of tenancy agreement. Almost 30 per cent of these were Aboriginal tenancies.⁴³ Rent arrears and a failure to pay other tenancy charges is one of the key drivers of failed tenancies, and is seen as the single most significant tenancy management issue facing social housing providers nationally.⁴⁴

In 2015/16, almost half of new social housing tenancies were for people who were either experiencing homelessness or at risk of homelessness.⁴⁵ This means a high proportion of social housing tenants have an increased risk of falling into homelessness if they lose their tenancies.

People who have experienced homelessness often need post-crisis support once they enter public housing and are at increased risk of exiting into homelessness if they don't receive it. More than half will exit their tenancies into homelessness within 12 months.⁴⁶ Of these, more than 15 per cent will exit into homelessness with three months, and almost 20 per cent within three to six months.⁴⁷ Post-crisis support has been shown to be highly effective in helping people sustain their public housing tenancies, with more than 85 per cent of public housing tenants maintaining their tenancies over 12 months when they received SHS assistance.⁴⁸

In private housing, real estate agents are often the first to know when a tenancy is at risk. Delayed rent, observations from property inspections, complaints from neighbours and strata, or contact from police, are some of the early signs a tenancy may be in trouble. Working with real estate agents provides an opportunity to identify tenants at risk of eviction early and link them with service providers and supports to help them maintain their tenancies.

Transition points are periods of instability for many people

Transition points and significant life events can be periods of instability or uncertainty, exposing people to a range of stressors and challenges that can lead to increased risk, particularly for vulnerable groups. For vulnerable people, transition points can act as a trigger which destabilises them. When combined with the presence of other risk factors (such as addiction or mental health issues), a vulnerable person experiencing a transition or significant life event may lack the resources, support or skills to handle it, leading to consequences that culminate in homelessness.⁴⁹

This includes people leaving government services, such as out-of-home care (OOHC), inpatient mental health units, or the justice system, who have been shown to be at increased risk of homelessness. The causes of homelessness among this group are complex and multifaceted, but include poor identification of risk factors, poor transition planning, a lack of coordination in responding to unmet support needs, and limited appropriate exit accommodation options.⁵⁰

Approximately half of the 15,000 people released from custody each year are released on remand at short notice with no pre-release assistance, and sometimes with no money, suitable clothes, medication or accommodation.⁵¹ Research has identified that upon release many people are worse off than when they were incarcerated, with up to half experiencing at least one episode of homelessness in the first six months after release, and many others being in unstable or unsuitable housing.⁵²

In Australia, almost 7,000 people leaving health or social care arrangements in 2015/16 required SHS support. Of these, almost 30 per cent were classified as homeless, with the majority (almost 60 per cent) living in short-term emergency accommodation.⁵³ In 2016/17, more than 8,000 people exiting custodial settings in Australia required SHS support.⁵⁴ NSW prison reception data indicates that as many as 60 per cent of people in prison have come from primary or secondary homelessness,⁵⁵ and analysis of BOCSAR data indicates that in 2015/16 as many as one in 10 young people exiting juvenile justice custody accessed SHS.⁵⁶

Young people leaving OOHC are disproportionately at risk of homelessness, with 22 per cent using SHS in the same financial year as they exit. Aboriginal OOHC leavers are 43 per cent more likely to access SHS than non-Aboriginal OOHC leavers. Twenty-four per cent of people who left OOHC and have involvement with the criminal justice system require SHS in the first two years after exiting custody.⁵⁷



What we will do

ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date		
FOCUS 1: Prevention and early intervention 1.1 Increase early identification of at-risk groups We will build our understanding of the risk factors that make people the most vulnerable to homelessness, and make it easier for the mainstream service system to identify and link these people to services. Who will benefit: Young people, low income families, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas.					
 Expand the use of universal screening tools for homelessness and risk of homelessness in schools. Beginning with a pilot site in one or two districts, with expansion to other districts and services with a stable client base to be considered post-evaluation. To respond early to young people and families at risk, we will build on the evidence of the Geelong Model that demonstrated all the young people who were identified through the survey for assessment and referral maintained school engagement and stable housing throughout the 12 month evaluation period.⁵⁸ It is anticipated that the initial sites will be in areas of high disadvantage, will incorporate lessons learnt from the pilots, and have an evaluation component to report on client outcomes and assess program delivery, prior to consideration of further expansion. 	FACS, Education, Health	Schools, TEI providers, SHS, GPs	Year 1 - Planning, procurement and establishment of the program. Year 2 - Pilot		
 Commission an actuarial analysis of pathways into homelessness to inform investment in 2019/20 and onwards. Experiencing homelessness is often the result of a long series of events and risk factors. This work will provide detail on early opportunities to intervene, and aim to develop a predictive model. Priority areas to include engagement with justice, mental health, OOHC, and alcohol and other drugs (AOD). This analysis will identify service usage, service engagement, and costs to government of individuals accessing homelessness services to identify service capacity, service gaps, and service collaboration opportunities. 	FACS, Health, Justice, Education, DFSI	-	Under way		
Identify opportunities to use social impact investment to complement the identified focus areas and actions under the Strategy.	OSII, FACS	Private sector, NGOs	Aim for services to commence mid 2019		

Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date
FACS	SHS, NGOs, private sector, community	Year 1 - conduct a Roundtable into overcrowding
-		-
FACS	SHS, private real estate,	Under way
	community	
	Agencies FACS avoid entering cies may be at ri- nomes.	Agencies Partners Agencies Partners FACS SHS, NGOs, private sector, community avoid entering the homeless cies may be at risk, and connect nomes. FACS SHS, private real estate,

ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date
 Findings from local projects that engage with real estate agents have been promising, with one project preventing up to 50 per cent of evictions through early identification of at-risk tenancies in the first two years of operation.⁶¹ 			
 Support and encourage financial institutions, including telecommunications and energy companies, to offer information on a full suite of Commonwealth and state supports for their customers who are experiencing financial hardship. Research has shown people who are severely or fully financially excluded are at higher risk of poor economic, social and health outcomes.⁶² FACS and other agencies will work to identify opportunities for the private sector to build on current financial hardship provisions and Financial Inclusion Action Plans to identify and support people in financial stress, including linking them to available Commonwealth and state supports. 	FACS, Justice	Private sector, community	Year 1
 Take action to sustain existing tenancies in social housing through local strategies to deliver intensive person-centred support and case management to address a range of complex needs such as mental health and alcohol and other drug issues. The effectiveness of tenancy support programs has been consistently demonstrated with rates averaging between 80 and 90 per cent across a number of programs in Australia.⁶³ In addition to preventing homelessness for those at imminent risk and reducing evictions, supporting people to sustain their existing tenancies has been shown to have a broad range of other factors, including reducing homelessness in a debt; increasing labour market and educational participation; and increasing appropriate links to health and social services.⁶⁴ 	FACS	CHPs and SHS	Years 1 and 2 - supports to existing social housing tenants Years 3 and 4 - supports to new social housing tenants



ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date
1.3 Prevent exits from government services into ho	melessness		
We will develop and implement best practice models to inc prevent people exiting government services into homeless		veness of exit	planning and
Who will benefit: Young people exiting out of home care mental health and hospital settings, Aboriginal people, run			ces, exits from
FACS, Justice and Health to use the Multi-agency Framework for Transition Planning to Prevent Homelessness to undertake a review of current exit planning policies and practices, and best practice in exit planning. Agencies to agree on a joint approach to preventing exits into homelessness, including developing new agency action plans demonstrating how agencies will reduce exits into homelessness.	FACS, Justice, Health	-	Under way
 All agencies to complete Action Plans to identify policies, practices and reporting to ensure best practice exit planning, to include: Current examples of best practice exit planning Transition support model for clients with exit plans who require linking, coordination or cross-agency collaboration to transition into long-term accommodation. 			

FOCUS 2 Effective supports and responses

The causes of homelessness are complex and involve a number of intersecting factors that play out in different ways from individual to individual. Provision of housing and support are two critical responses to homelessness, but people's needs differ widely.

The NSW Government is committed to developing a systemic response to homelessness that will ensure people experiencing homelessness, particularly vulnerable groups, will have access to housing and tailored, flexible support to meet their individual needs.

What the evidence says

Evidence of what works to help people out of homelessness shows that an effective response includes access to affordable housing and flexible, needs-based support. People's differing circumstances and needs – from young people at risk of homelessness to people experiencing chronic homelessness to people leaving domestic and family violence – influence the range of supports and housing options needed in the service system.

Housing First approaches can help prevent chronic homelessness

Housing First is an evidence-based way of responding to chronic homelessness and rough sleeping. Housing First means offering affordable housing to people experiencing homelessness as quickly as possible, removing potential barriers and providing the supports they need to avoid returning to homelessness for as long as supports are needed.

The evidence about Housing First approaches adopted in the US, UK, Canada, and in Europe all points in the same direction – 80-90 per cent of chronic rough sleepers remained housed after two years. Studies have also shown that Housing First reduces the use of crisis services and institutions, and improves people's health and social outcomes.⁸⁵

Housing First projects in NSW have demonstrated similar results:

- Almost 90 per cent of men experiencing chronic homelessness supported through Michael's Intensive Supported Housing Accord (MISHA) were still in housing two years later;⁶⁶
- More than 80 per cent of people experiencing chronic homelessness supported by the Platform 70 project sustained their tenancies;⁶⁷
- Almost 95 per cent of Common Ground Sydney residents sustained their tenancies for over 12 months. In this case, the average length of homelessness for residents was 13 years.⁶⁸

Assertive outreach and access to quality health care can help people who are sleeping rough transition to housing

People who are sleeping rough are disproportionately high users of the health system. For many, the challenge of finding food, shelter, clothing, and safety means health is not a priority, which, in turn, exacerbates disease, complicates treatment, and increases their mortality rate.⁶⁹

A recent study identified that mortality rates for young people who are sleeping rough are more than 10 times greater than the general population.⁷⁰ A study of 516 people who were sleeping rough in inner city Sydney found they had 1,007 visits to the emergency department, 376 periods of hospitalisation, and 527 trips in an ambulance in a six month period.⁷¹

Assertive outreach and access to quality health care plays an important role in engaging with people who are sleeping rough, and can be a catalyst to help them engage with services and provide an exit

pathway out of homelessness.⁷² In this context, assertive outreach and access to health care services work to help people who are sleeping rough address health and other issues, such as mental health and/or substance use, that may be contributing to their circumstances.⁷³

Models in the USA, NSW and Queensland, including the Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program (BHCHP) and the St Vincent's program in Sydney, have been shown to deliver a range of positive outcomes for people who are sleeping rough. The St Vincent's approach encompasses Tierney House (a step-up/step-down model of health care in a home-like setting), assertive outreach, and exit or complex care coordinators.

Vulnerable young people can be supported to transition to independence

Effective housing and support models for young people, such as Youth Foyer programs, link stable accommodation with support to access education, training and work, shifting the focus from crisisdriven responses that can be overly focused on disadvantage.

Supports need to be person-centred

For women and children leaving domestic and family violence, programs supporting them to remain safely in their home or access alternative safe housing have been shown to be effective. Women and children leaving domestic and family violence need a range of services, including immediate crisis intervention and assistance to overcome the emotional and psychological impact of the trauma, as well as assistance to ensure their economic and housing stability. Research has emphasised the critical importance of tangible resources, in particular stable housing, for women during the post-separation period.⁷⁴

Specific trauma supports are also critical. Previous Australian studies have documented the high rates of exposure to traumatic events among people who experience homelessness; with between 91 and 100 per cent of people experiencing homelessness having experienced at least one major trauma in their lives compared with 57 per cent of the general Australian population who report one major traumatic event in their life.⁷⁶ One study identified that the majority had been exposed to trauma during their childhood, predominantly child abuse.⁷⁶

Alternate social housing options can better meet the needs of different groups

The experiences of older women who are homeless or at risk of homelessness are diverse. Many older women do not have complex needs, but face challenges that increase their risk of homelessness.

For groups with growing risk of homelessness, such as older women, there is a need to consider new housing options that will provide long-term, affordable accommodation. There is a high demand for single occupancy homes, which is a barrier for many people finding and sustaining long-term accommodation. At June 2016, almost 50 per cent of women on the housing waiting list in NSW needed a studio or one bedroom dwelling.⁷⁷



What we will do

ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date
FOCUS 2: Increase access to supports, including hou and re-entry into homelessness.	sing, that prev	vent homele	essness
2.1 Expand Housing First in NSW to reduce rough sleep homelessness through flexible, tailored supports	ing and prever	nt chronic	
We will build on our current Housing First approach, bringing to services, and psychosocial support providers so that people w homelessness can access housing and the supports they need Who will benefit: People who are sleeping rough, people with homelessness, regional areas, Aboriginal people.	ho are sleeping to sustain their	rough or at hi tenancy.	gh risk of
Continue to implement the Supported Transition and Engagement Program (STEP) to provide an additional 120 housing places for rough sleepers across NSW over the next four years, with wraparound support based on Housing First principles. This includes 90 places in the inner city, and a further 30 places in regional locations with high levels of primary and secondary homelessness. This initiative will be supported by 'Next STEP' providing over 70 packages for continuation of support and accommodation for people remaining in STEP properties who still require support at the end of the original program.	FACS	SHS	Under way
FACS will build on the success of the Housing Outreach and Support Team (HOST) in the inner city by implementing another HOST team in Parramatta to provide assertive outreach to rough sleepers, and support them to access accommodation and support.	FACS	SHS, CHPs	Year 1
2.2 Provide targeted housing options to prevent homele for high risk groups	essness or chr	onic homele	ssness
We will implement a range of tailored accommodation solution including women and children experiencing domestic and fami and young people.			
Who will benefit: Women and children leaving domestic as people leaving out of home care, low income families and in Aboriginal people.			
 Increase core and cluster accommodation for families experiencing DFV, to be evaluated for expansion. The core and cluster model is a set of individual units in a single location (cluster) together with office/workers' space and communal areas for residents (core), giving women and children greater privacy. In other jurisdictions, communal refuges with shared facilities are being replaced with core and cluster models which provide independent, private accommodation and on-site support.⁷⁸ 	FACS	SHS	Under way - first site established in Orange.

ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date
 Implementation of Phase 1 of the Social and Affordable Fund is continuing with building work underway to deliver more homes under the first procurement phase. Implement Phase 2 of the Social and Affordable Housing Fund to target 1,200 social and affordable dwellings that are new to the sector with: At least 70% to be social housing and the balance to be affordable housing A target of 30% of dwellings to be in regional NSW Proposals targeting the general social housing population with a priority for proposals with older women as a target group. 	FACS	CHPs and partners	Phase 1 under way. Phase 2 to commence in second half of Year 1
 Deliver targeted social housing options for older women in four to five locations, to be evaluated for expansion. A study of single older women facing homelessness reflected that they were prepared to trade space for having an individual unit of their own. The overwhelming preference was to have their own home, and for that home to be permanent and safe so that they would not be homeless again and they could be supported as they aged.⁷⁹ Affordable, permanent supportive housing models have the potential to prevent homelessness for at-risk older women.⁸⁰ Smaller units will be trialled to accommodate growing demand for social and affordable housing for older women in financial hardship. 	FACS	CHPs	Services to commence from Year 2
 Provide access to education and accommodation for young people through a Youth Foyer social impact investment, to be evaluated for expansion. Foyers are designed for young people with the capacity to engage in education and training, but who are prevented from participating due to structural, institutional and/or personal barriers. Youth Foyer models have been shown to be effective, with around 75 per cent of Foyer residents leaving with full-time work, or on their way to university.⁸¹ Further robust evaluation of this model is needed to build on the positive outcomes reported by people who have been part of previous Youth Foyer programs. One purpose-built Youth Foyer site located in central Sydney will be delivered, offering young OOHC leavers a safe and affordable place to live while they engage in education, training and employment. 	FACS, OSII	CHPs, NGOs	Construction commences in Year 1. Services to commence from Year 3 (2021)

ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date		
2.3 Provide choice and the right supports for people to address the issues putting them at risk of homelessness and to reduce repeat homelessness					
We will provide a range of tailored responses to the most vulne domestic and family violence, children and young people, peo- with alcohol and other drug issues.	• • •	-			
Who will benefit: Women and children leaving domestic and rough sleepers, people with disability, families and individuals areas, Aboriginal people.	-				
Increase options for women and children experiencing DFV to stay safe at home.	FACS	SHS	Year 1		
 Staying Home Leaving Violence aims to prevent homelessness by working with NSW Police to remove the perpetrator from the family home so that women and children can remain at home. 90 per cent of people supported to stay in their home after experiencing domestic and family violence through the Staying Home Leaving Violence program were still in safe housing at the end of the evaluation period.⁸² Staying Home Leaving Violence will be established in an additional five new sites (1,175 women and children per year). 					
Improve health and housing outcomes for people experiencing homelessness by increasing their access to quality health care by building on current models delivered through St Vincent's Hospital and the BHCHP.	Health, LHDs, FACS	SHS	Services to commence in year 2		
 An evaluation of Tierney House demonstrated reduced reliance on the hospital system for people experiencing homelessness, including reduced likelihood of emergency presentation.⁸³ The Micah Project's Integrated Healthcare and Supportive Housing model has delivered positive outcomes in the lives of people who are sleeping rough or experiencing chronic homelessness. In a recent survey of 75 participants, 50 per cent reported improvements in their mental health and around 60 per cent reported improvements in their physical health and satisfaction with life.⁸⁴ 					

ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date
• The housing and primary health service will provide quality services, reduce health care costs, and improve the accommodation outcomes for people experiencing homelessness, particularly those who are sleeping rough.			
 Expanding assertive outreach to people sleeping rough in areas of high need. This is a multi-agency response to engage with people who are sleeping rough in high need areas and build on the quality health care approach. Two new sites in NSW, estimate of 115 clients per site (who may have multiple support periods over the course of a year). Based on Way2Home Model. 	FACS	NGOs Health, LHDs	Year 2
Build on the successes of Supported Temporary Accommodation models and complete a Temporary Accommodation framework in order to ensure the appropriate support options are available for people requiring crisis accommodation to enable them to transition to long-term housing.	FACS	SHS	Under way

FOCUS 3 An integrated, person-centred service system

In NSW, no one agency is responsible for delivering responses to homelessness. Services and supports are provided by a number of government agencies, non-government agencies, and community organisations. Often organisations and services remain disconnected, despite recognition of the importance of integration and attempts to promote integrated responses in policy and service delivery contexts.⁸⁶

The NSW Government is committed to making the service system more integrated and more accountable to the people it supports. We will put people at the centre of the system, so they get appropriate help when they need it.

What the evidence says

Service integration is a key part of a person-centred response

Many people experiencing homelessness have multiple needs, and it is common for them to need a range of supports beyond housing. In 2016/17, more than 74,000 people accessed SHS in NSW. Of these:

- · More than 40 per cent reported having some type of health condition;
- · 35 per cent had experienced domestic and family violence;
- · 33 per cent reported having a current mental health condition;
- 12 per cent reported drug or alcohol misuse; and
- 4 per cent reported having a disability.⁸⁶

People who have experienced significant trauma typically present to multiple services over a long period of time, and research has shown that care is often disjointed with a lack of coordination between services, and poor referral pathways and follow-up protocols.⁸⁷ The lack of service integration can increase the risk of re-traumatisation and compounding problems as a result of unrecognised trauma,⁸⁹ and makes getting help more challenging.

In the consultations for the development of the NSW Homelessness Strategy, service users and providers described the mainstream service system as complex and difficult to navigate. People often have to approach a range of services and repeat their story many times to get the support they need. A lack of information sharing and service integration means that a person's condition and needs are often treated in isolation, resulting in poorer outcomes for the person.

Although there is limited robust evidence on the extent and effectiveness of integrated approaches to homelessness in Australia,⁸⁹ a number of key mechanisms that support integration have been identified, including dedicated coordination roles, case coordination initiatives, localised outreach programs, and formalised relationship mechanisms.⁹⁰



Quality systems and a focus on outcomes

A multi-site descriptive evaluation of trauma-informed services for homeless families in the US found that almost 90 per cent of participants had either remained in government-subsidised housing or moved to permanent housing 18 months after engaging with the program. However, programs have demonstrated improvements in people's daily functioning and a decrease in trauma and mental health symptoms, as well as in substance use.⁹¹

Trauma-informed and culturally appropriate practice lead to better outcomes

Trauma is a common precursor to experiencing homelessness, with trauma exposure often escalating following the onset of homelessness.⁹² Studies exploring the relationship between trauma and homelessness have demonstrated the universality of trauma exposure among people experiencing homelessness, with one study identifying that all participants had experienced at least one traumatic event, but 97 per cent experienced more than four events. In the general community, only 4 per cent of people experience more than four events.⁹³ In spite of this, research has shown that homelessness services may support trauma survivors without being aware of or addressing the impact of traumatic stress.⁹⁴

Although there are yet to be any rigorous quantitative studies exploring trauma-informed outcomes within homelessness service settings, there are early indications that trauma-informed care can have a positive effect on housing stability. Programs have also demonstrated improvements in people's daily functioning and a decrease in trauma and mental health symptoms, as well as substance use.⁹⁵

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are over-represented among people experiencing or at risk of homelessness and the rate is increasing. The Special Taskforce on Domestic and Family Violence in Queensland found that the effectiveness of services offered to Aboriginal people is often undermined by a failure to deliver services in a culturally appropriate manner.⁹⁶ The need for more culturally appropriate services was raised repeatedly during consultations for the development of the NSW Homelessness Strategy.



What we will do

ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date		
FOCUS 3: Create an integrated, person-centred se	ervice system				
 3.1 Improve accountability by agencies and services for homelessness outcomes in order to drive systemic change We will shift the focus from types of service to achievement of outcomes and implement new reporting mechanisms to encourage greater collaboration across the sector, and increase accountability and reporting by agencies and services. Who will benefit: All cohorts, with a primary focus on people with high or complex needs. 					
 Develop the Human Services Outcomes Framework (HSOF) application for homelessness, including introducing cross-agency requirements for reporting on homelessness outcomes. The HSOF is a tool to support agencies and non- government organisations to embed outcomes measurement into human services planning, delivery and evaluation. The application of the HSOF to the NSW Homelessness Strategy will help focus collective effort on improving outcomes for people who use mainstream and specialist homelessness services. Best practice resources will be developed to build evidence-based practice models. Strategy evaluation plan to include development and dissemination of further resources for districts and services. 	FACS, Health, Justice, Education	SHS	Under way		
 Develop a whole-of-system homelessness dashboard to improve transparency of funding and outcomes. The dashboard will complement the HSOF, and improve understanding and reporting across the whole of the service system on investment in homelessness and outcomes achieved. 	FACS	-	Year 1		
Outcomes-based commissioning seeks to shift emphasis in the contracting environment from the services a provider will offer to the outcomes they achieve for their clients. It is driven by data and evidence about what works for whom, where and why. It places the outcomes being achieved for clients, at the centre of the contracting relationship. To support an outcomes-based approach, a new quality system will be implemented over the next 5 years.	FACS	SHS	Year 1 - develop outcomes framework; commence pilot Year 1 & 2 - consultation and planning with providers to inform new contracts in 2020		

ACTIONS	Responsible Agencies	Other Partners	Start Date
Undertake a robust evaluation of the Strategy, identifying where initiatives are effective, reviewing implementation and scaling up as appropriate through the term of the Strategy.	FACS, Health, Justice, Education	SHS	Year 1 onwards
 3.2 Increase service integration and collaboration to enhance person-centred responses We will improve outcomes for people and reduce service delivery gaps through integrated, person-centred approaches that support people with multiple or complex needs and help them navigate service systems more effectively. Who will benefit: All cohorts, with a primary focus on people with high or complex needs. 			l, person- avigate service
 Increase access to AOD services for people experiencing homelessness by providing clear pathways and links into appropriate housing options to improve health and housing outcomes following treatment. When housing is linked to appropriate clinical and rehabilitation support, people are better able to overcome the impact of AOD misuse (and associated mental health issues) and live independently.⁹⁷ 	FACS, Health, AOD services	CHPs	Year 1 - develop transition planning guidelines with Health
3.3 Improve services by increasing trauma-informe We will improve the way agencies and frontline staff work ensure best practice and culturally appropriate approache Who will benefit: Aboriginal people, people with past ex- complex needs, rural and regional areas.	with people, build as to service deliv	ding on current very.	training to
 Improve the way we work with people on the frontline, building on current customer service and staff capability development initiatives, with an initial focus on delivering trauma-informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training available to all FACS staff and NGO services delivered in multiple locations across NSW. Improve staff and organisational capacity to provide person-centred, trauma-informed supports to vulnerable people to improve outcomes. Improve staff and organisational capacity to provide culturally appropriate services to Aboriginal people. Build the capability of FACS client service officers to deliver improved customer service outcomes for people experiencing homelessness or at risk of homelessness through the LEAP training. 	FACS, Health, Justice, Education	SHS	Year 1 - training needs assessment Year 2 - training rolled out across NSW

Implementation Plan				
Expansion o	FOCUS 1: Prevention and early intervention Expansion of initiatives in Years 3-5 subject to evaluation and review of initial implementation in Years 1 and 2			
WHAT WE WILL DO	 1.1 Increase early identification of at-risk groups Who will benefit: Young people, low income families, families and individuals in financial hardship, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas 	1.2 Support people to maintain their tenancies and avoid entering the homelessness system Who will benefit: Older people, low income families, families and individuals in financial hardship, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas	1.3 Prevent exits from government services into homelessness Primary Cohorts: Young people exiting out of home care, people exiting corrective services, exits from mental health and hospital settings, Aboriginal people, rural and regional areas	
YEAR 1 (2018-19)	Planning, procurement and establishment of universal screening program	Support people to sustain their tenancies in private rentals	Explore opportunities to use social impact investment (SII)	
	Complete actuarial analysis of pathways into homelessness	Work with financial institutions to address financial hardship/ exclusion	Multi-agency best practice review of exits from government services	
	Conduct Overcrowding Roundtable	- CACIUSION	government services	
(0040.00)	Commence universal screening in one district	Continue implementation of tenancy support actions	SII commences with payment for outcomes delivered	
		Continue to work with financial institutions to address financial hardship/exclusion	Implement action plans	
YEAR 3 (2020-21)	Continue to implement universal screening and	Continue implementation of tenancy support actions	SII continues with payment for outcomes delivered	
responses in the two identified districts	Continue to work with financial institutions to address financial hardship/exclusion			
YEAR 4 (2021-22)	Continue to implement universal screening and	Continue implementation of tenancy support actions	SII continues with payment for outcomes delivered	
responses in the two identified districts	responses in the two identified districts	Delivery of additional packages		
		Continue to work with financial institutions to address financial hardship/exclusion		
YEAR 5 (2022-23)	Continue to implement universal screening and	Continue implementation of tenancy support actions	SII continues with payment for outcomes delivered	
	responses in the two identified districts	Delivery of additional packages		
		Continue to work with financial institutions to address financial hardship/exclusion		

FOCUS 2: Increase access to supports, including housing, that prevent homelessness and re-entry into homelessness			
WHAT WE WILL DO	2.1 Expand supports in NSW to reduce rough sleeping and prevent chronic homelessness Who will benefit: People who are sleeping rough, people with mental illness, people at high risk of homelessness, regional areas, Aboriginal people	2.2 Provide targeted housing options to prevent homelessness or chronic homelessness for high risk cohorts Who will benefit: Women and children leaving domestic and family violence, older people, young people leaving out of home care, low income families and individuals, rural and regional areas, Aboriginal people	2.3 Provide choice and the right supports for people to address the issues putting them at risk of homelessness and to reduce repeat homelessness Who will benefit: Women and children leaving domestic and family violence, children, older people, people sleeping rough, people with disability, families and individuals in financial hardship, rural and regional areas, Aboriginal people.
YEAR 1 (2018-19)	Continue STEP implementation	Contracts signed for Phase 2 of the Social and Affordable Housing Fund	Sustain tenancies in social housing
	Provision of additional scattered site integrated	Youth Foyer design and development commences	Design co-located homeless health services
and housing programs		Specialist housing for older	Expand core and cluster model
to support rough in in	Continue assertive outreach to support people sleeping rough in inner city districts		Implement temporary accommodation framework
	to access housing with	Delivery of Social and Affordable Housing Fund Phase 1	Increase options for women and children experiencing DFV to stay safe at home
YEAR 2 (2019-20)	Continue assertive outreach to support people sleeping rough in inner city districts to access housing with	Social and Affordable Housing Fund Phase 2 delivery commences	Support to existing tenancies
(2019-20)			Commence co-located homelessness health services
	support	Social and Affordable Housing Fund Phase 1 delivery continues	Commence site selection for assertive outreach to people sleeping rough in areas of high need
YEAR 3 (2020-21)	Services commence	Youth Foyer services	Support to existing tenancies
,	Continue assertive outreach to support people sleeping rough in inner city districts to access housing with support	commence Social and Affordable Housing Fund Phase 2 delivery continues	Facility is fitted out, staff engaged and clients attend
YEAR 4 (2021-22)	Continuation from Year 3	Social and Affordable	Support to new tenancies
(2021-22)	Continue assertive outreach to support people sleeping rough in inner city districts to access housing with support	Housing Fund Phase 2 delivery continues	
YEAR 5 (2022-23)	Continuation from Year 4	Consider expansion of the Foyer model to new locations	Consider expansion of health and housing services to other sites

	FOCUS 3: Create an inte	egrated, person-centred ser	vice system
WHAT WE WILL DO	3.1 Improve accountability by agencies and services for homelessness outcomes in order to drive systemic change Who will benefit: All cohorts, with a primary focus on people with high or complex needs	3.2 Increase service integration and collaboration to enhance person-centred responses Who will benefit: All cohorts, with a primary focus on people with high or complex needs	3.3 Improve services by increasing trauma- informed care and culturally appropriate practice Who will benefit: Aboriginal people, people with past experience of trauma, people with multiple or complex needs, rural and regional areas
YEAR 1 (2018-19)	Complete Human Services Outcomes Framework (HSOF) for homelessness Design and release homelessness dashboard	Finalise and implement evaluation framework Develop transition planning guidelines with Health to support people accessing	Identify best practice training materials and mechanisms for rollout of trauma-informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training
	Planning commissioning for outcomes for Specialist Homelessness Services Introduce new quality system	AOD treatment and housing Identify best practice training materials and mechanisms of rollout of trauma-informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training	
YEAR 2 (2019-20)	Begin implementation of HSOF Continue development of the homelessness dashboard	Evaluation of strategy and individual actions under way	Commence rollout of trauma- informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training
	Planning commissioning for outcomes for Specialist Homelessness Services Implement new quality system	Commence rollout of trauma- informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training	
YEAR 3 (2020-21)	Complete implementation of HSOF	Continue evaluation of strategy and individual actions	Continue rollout of trauma- informed care and Aboriginal
	Stage 1 implementation commissioning for outcomes: new contracts for Specialist Homelessness Services	Continue rollout of trauma- informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training	cultural capability training
	Continue implementation of new quality system		
YEAR 4 (2021-22)	Continue implementation of commissioning for outcomes	Continue evaluation of strategy and individual action	Continue rollout of trauma- informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training
	Continue implementation of new quality system	Continue rollout of trauma- informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training	Cultural capability training
YEAR 5 (2022-23)	Continue implementation of commissioning for outcomes Continue implementation of new quality system	Continue evaluation of strategy and individual action Continue rollout of trauma- informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training	Continue rollout of trauma- informed care and Aboriginal cultural capability training

Acronyms

AIHW	Australian Institute of Health and Wellbeing
AOD	Alcohol and other drugs
BHCHP	Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program
BOCSAR	Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research
СНР	Community Housing Provider
DFV	Domestic and Family Violence
FACS	Department of Family and Community Services
HASI	Housing and Accommodation Support Initiative
HSOF	Human Services Outcomes Framework
LEAP	Leadership, Engagement and Professional training
LGBTIQ	Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex, queer or questioning
LHD	Local Health District
МН	Mental Health
NDIS	National Disability Insurance Scheme
NGO	Non-government organisation
NSW	New South Wales
OSII	Office of Social Impact Investment
SAHF	Social and Affordable Housing Fund
SHS	Specialist Homelessness Services
STEP	Supported Transition and Engagement Program

	Glossary
Term	Definition
Affordable housing	Housing provided by housing provider organisations (usually community housing providers) that meets the needs of people on very low to moderate incomes and is priced according to income so that people can afford other basic living costs.
Assertive outreach	A purposeful, proactive and persistent approach that has the common goal of ending homelessness for those who are sleeping rough. It is conceptualised as part of a broader, integrated and intentional policy response that requires both a multidisciplinary team and the availability of long-term housing. It aims to work with people over the medium to long-term as a means to assist people to access housing and sustain their tenancies post-homelessness.
Boston Health Care for the Homeless Program	A program that targets people experiencing homelessness by providing health and dental care, assistance to apply for benefits, accommodation and medical respite.
Case management	A process whereby an individual and/or family's needs are identified and services are coordinated and managed in a systematic way. The core elements of case management include assessment, case planning, implementation (service delivery), monitoring and review.
Census	The Census of Population and Housing is a descriptive count of population of Australia on one night, and of their dwellings, held every five years.
Chronic homelessness	An episode of homelessness lasting six months or longer or multiple episodes of homelessness over a 12 month period or more.
Commissioning for outcomes	Places a person's outcomes at the heart of the service system. It is a needs-led and outcomes-focused process.
Common Ground	A housing model based in Camperdown in inner city Sydney using Housing First principles. The program provides services that are tailored to individuals in order to help people transition to permanent accommodation and assist with other needs. See also 'Housing First'.
Communities Plus	A new generation of integrated housing developments being delivered in partnership with the private, non-government and community housing sectors. The program includes sites in metropolitan Sydney and regional NSW.
Core and cluster accommodation	This form of accommodation creates a set of individual 'satellite' private units on a piece of land (cluster) connected to a communal area for shared living and support needs (core). Needs are supported by centrally located staff.
Crisis accommodation	Accommodation for people who are experiencing or are at risk of homelessness, which provides short-term accommodation including refuges, shelters, motels, flats, boarding houses or caravan parks.

Term	Definition
Culturally appropriate service delivery	Delivery of programs and services so that they are consistent with the cultural identity, communication styles, meaning and value or normative systems and social contexts of clients, program participants and other stakeholders.
Domestic and family violence	Includes any behaviour, in an intimate or family relationship, which is violent, threatening, coercive or controlling, causing a person to live in fear.
Early intervention	Actions designed to reduce the impact of homelessness when it does occur and reduce the risk factors for longer-term homelessness. These strategies are targeted at individuals who have recently become homeless, aiming to ensure that short periods of homelessness do not become chronic.
Foyer models	Purpose-built centres offering young people a safe and affordable place to live while they engage in education, training and employment.
Homeless	 Where a person does not have suitable accommodation which meets basic needs including a sense of security, stability, privacy, safety and the ability to control living space. May be: Primary: no conventional accommodation or shelter; Secondary: living in shelters, emergency accommodation, refuges and couch surfing; Tertiary: living in accommodation that falls below minimum community standards.
Household	A group of two or more related or unrelated people who usually reside in the same dwelling, and who make common provision for food or other essentials for living. A household can also be a single person living in a dwelling who makes provision for his or her own food and other essentials for living, without combining with any other person.
Housing affordability	The cost of housing compared with the financial situation of households. Generally refers to housing across major cities, states or nationally, as opposed to individual households.
Housing First	Housing First means offering affordable housing to people experiencing homelessness as quickly as possible, removing potential barriers and providing the supports they need to avoid returning to homelessness.
Human Services Outcomes Framework	A cross-agency framework which specifies seven wellbeing outcomes for the people of NSW: safety, home, economic, health, education and skills, social and community and empowerment. Provides a tool to support agencies and NGOs understand and measure the extent to which positive outcomes are achieved, and is used to guide human services planning, delivery and evaluation.
Individual support packages	An allocation of funding to a person in order to purchase the supports which will best meet their ongoing needs and help them to support their goals. It enables choice and individualised preference to be incorporated in government service delivery.
Mainstream services	Generalist services provided by either government or non-government agencies that are available to the general population, e.g. hospitals, schools, correctional systems.

Term	Definition
Medium-term accommodation	Medium term accommodation (or transitional housing), usually provided or managed by a specialist homelessness service and not expected to be long term or permanent.
Micah Project's Integrated Healthcare and Supportive Housing model	Consists of a multidisciplinary team of health, psychosocial, and housing professionals. Enables tenants' needs to be identified, external resources accessed, and the delivery of a coordinated response that ensures that external service providers and the on-site service providers are operating in a way that realises tenant identified objectives.
Michael's Intensive Supported Housing Accord (MISHA)	A housing model based on the Housing First approach. It is a philanthropically funded initiative based in Parramatta which aims to support men in long-term accommodation, wrap-around services and intensive case management.
	See 'Housing First'.
Non-government organisation (NGO)	Includes organisations operating in the community or private sectors.
Not-for-profit sector	Community organisations providing a broad range of social services, including in relation to homelessness, housing, education, health, conservation and recreation.
Older women	Women aged 55 years and over.
Out-of-home care	The care of a child or young person who is in the parental responsibility of the Minister, or a non-related person, residing at a place other than their usual home, and by a person other than their parent, as a result of a Children's Court order that lasts more than 14 days, or because they are a protected person.
Person-centred	Placing a person at the centre of service delivery to ensure a high standard of customer service and the best outcomes are achieved for each individual.
Prevention	Actions to prevent someone who is at risk of homelessness from experiencing homelessness. Prevention activities identify people at risk of homelessness and support them to reduce risk factors and build protective factors.
Protective factors	Conditions or attributes of individuals, families, communities, or the larger society that, when present, promote wellbeing and reduce the risk of negative outcomes.
Psychosocial support	A range of supports which may include mental health treatment and counselling, education, social support and group support. It aims to address ongoing psychological and social problems experienced by individuals which may increase the risk of homelessness.
Public housing	Long-term, affordable housing for people on low incomes who are unable to rent privately. The properties are managed by FACS.
Repeat homelessness	The experience of multiple periods of homelessness in a reporting period.
Risk factors	Factors or triggers that can contribute to or increases the likelihood of homelessness.

Term	Definition
Risk of homelessness	A person is at risk of homelessness if they are at risk of losing their accommodation. A person may be at risk of homelessness if they are experiencing one or more of a range of factors or triggers that can contribute to homelessness.
Service integration	Structures and processes that attempt to bring together the participants in human services systems with the aim of achieving goals that cannot be achieved by those participants acting autonomously and separately.
Sleeping rough	Sleeping in uncomfortable conditions without housing and without shelter, often on the streets, in parks or in a car.
Social and Affordable Housing Fund	An innovative approach to the delivery of social and affordable housing in NSW. The SAHF model increases the supply of housing through outcomes based contracts with nominated service providers.
Social housing	Rental housing provided by not-for-profit, NGO or government organisations to assist people who are unable to access suitable accommodation in the private rental market. It includes public, Aboriginal and community housing.
Social impact investment	Investment seeking to generate social impact alongside financial return. It brings together capital and expertise from the public, private and not-for-profit sectors to achieve a social objective.
Specialist homelessness services (SHS)	Assistance provided by a specialist homelessness agency to a person aimed at responding to or preventing homelessness. Support includes accommodation provision, assistance to sustain housing, domestic/family violence services, mental health services, family/relationship assistance, disability services, drug/ alcohol counselling, legal/financial services, immigration/cultural services, other specialist services and general assistance and support.
Specialist services	Provide services and support for people with particular issues such as those living with mental health issues, drug and alcohol issues or a disability.
Step-up/step-down model	A health program which has graded care according to need.
Structural drivers	Factors contributing to homelessness that are beyond an individual's control, such as the condition of housing and labour markets.
Supportive housing	Housing which incorporates additional supports, such as case management and psychosocial supports.
Temporary Accommodation	Emergency accommodation in low-cost hotels, motels, caravan parks, boarding houses and similar accommodation for people who are experiencing housing crisis or homelessness. Usually 1-2 days in duration and linked to homelessness services.



Term	Definition
Tierney House	A 12-bed residential unit assisting people experiencing homelessness in inner city Sydney to access health care. It provides a safe and stable environment where residents can access assessment, treatment and support from St Vincent's Hospital and local health and support services.
Trauma-informed care	Provides a framework for service delivery that is based on knowledge and understanding of how trauma affects people's lives, their service needs and service usage.

References

- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2016) Census of Population and Housing: Estimating homelessness, Data Cube 2 State and territory of usual residence, All persons http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/ DetailsPage/2049.02016?OpenDocument>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data.
- NSW Family and Community Services 2016-17 Annual Report https://www.facs.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/535256/FACS-Annual-Report-Volume-1-Performance-and-activities-report.pdf>
- 4. https://www.bridgehousing.org.au/news.php/213/bridge-wins-national-award-for-hand-up-rent-arrears-program
- Zaretzky, K. and Flatau, P., (2015) The cost effectiveness of Australian tenancy support programs for formerly homeless people, AHURI Final Report No.252. Melbourne: Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/final-reports/252.
- Zaretzky, K. and Flatau, P., (2015) The cost effectiveness of Australian tenancy support programs for formerly homeless people, AHURI Final Report No.252. Melbourne: Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/final-reports/252>.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2016), 2049.0 Census of Population and Housing: Estimating homelessness, http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/2049.0Main%20 Features302016?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=2049.0&issue=2016&num=&view>.
- NSW Government (2017), Premier's Priorities, Reducing Youth Homelessness https://www.nsw.gov.au/improving-nsw/premiers-priorities/reducing-youth-homelessness/.
- 10. Taylor Fry report for FACS (2017) Homelessness Pathways using Out of Home Care data.
- Flatau, P., Conroy, E., Spooner, C., Eardley, T., and Forbes, C. (2013) Lifetime and intergenerational experiences of homelessness in Australia, AHURI Final Report No. 200, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/final-reports/200>.
- 12. Rossiter, B., Mallett, S., Myers, P. and Rosenthal, D. (2003), *Living Well? Homeless young people in Melbourne,* Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health & Society, Melbourne
- MacKenzie, D., Flatau, P., Steen, A., and Thielking, M. (2016) The Cost of Youth Homelessness in Australia, ARC Linkage Research Breifing < http://www.swinburne.edu.au/news/latest-news/2016/04/the-cost-of-youthhomelessness-in-australia-.php>
- NSW Auditor General (2012), The impact of the raised school leaving age, http://www.audit.nsw.gov.au/ ArticleDocuments/252/01_Impact_of_Raising_School_Leaving_Age_2012_Full_Report.pdf.aspx?Embed=Y>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2017), Specialist Homelessness Services Annual Report 2016–17, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/contents/client-groups-of-interest/clients-who-have-experienced-domestic-and-family-violence-
- Petersen, M., Parsell, C., Phillips, R. and White, G. (2014) Preventing first time homelessness amongst older Australians, AHURI Final Report No. 222, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/final-reports/222>.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2011), Census of Population and Housing: Estimating homelessness: Table 2 Homeless Operational Groups and Other Marginal Housing, New South Wales–Sex by age of person–2011, ABS, ">http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/mf/2049.0>



- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data.
- 20. Parsell, C., and Peterson, M. (2014), 'Older Women's Pathways out of Homelessness in Australia', University of Queensland Report for the Mercy Foundation.
- Johnson, G., Scutella, R., Tseng, Y. and Wood, G. (2015), 'Entries and exits from homelessness: a dynamic analysis of the relationship between structural conditions and individual characteristics', AHURI Final Report No. 248, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data.
- Kamieniecki, G. (2001) 'Prevalence of psychological distress and psychiatric disorders among homeless youth in Australia: a comparative review', Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, Vol. 35, No. 3, pp. 352-358.
- 24. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data
- City of Sydney Council, City of Sydney Homelessness Street Counts (six monthly data to Aug 2017), <cityofsydney. nsw.gov.au/community/community-support/homelessness/street-count>.
- 26. Homelessness NSW (2016), Inner City Sydney Registry Week 2015 Report
- 27. Homelessness NSW (2016), Inner City Sydney Registry Week 2015 Report
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2011. The health and welfare of Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, an overview 2011. Cat. no. IHW 42. Canberra: AIHW.
- Andersen M, Williamson A, Fernando P, Redman S, Vincent F. "There's a housing crisis going on in Sydney for Aboriginal people": focus group accounts of housing and perceived associations with health. BMC Public Health. 2016;16(1):429. https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3049-2>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data.
- Spinney, A., Habibis, D. and McNelis, S. (2016), 'Safe and sound? How funding mix affects homelessness support for Indigenous Australians', AHURI Final Report No. 272, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne.
- Flatau, P., Conroy, E., Spooner, C., Eardley, T. and Forbes, C. (2013), 'Lifetime and intergenerational experiences of homelessness in Australia', AHURI Final Report No.200. Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne.
- Memmott, P., Long, S., Chambers, C. & Spring, F. (2003) Categories of Indigenous 'homeless' people and good practice responses to their needs. AHURI Final Report No. 49. https://www.ahuri.edu.au/__data/assets/ pdf_file/0007/2113/AHURI_Final_Report_No49_Categories_of_Indigenous_homeless_people_and_good_practice_ responses.pdf
- McNair, R., Andrews, C., Parkinson, S., and Dempsey, D. (2017), 'GALFA LGBQTI Homelessness Research Project Final Report: LGBQTI Homelessness, Risks, Resilience, and Access to Services in Victoria'.
- McNair, R., Andrews, C., Parkinson, S., and Dempsey, D. (2017), 'GALFA LGBQTI Homelessness Research Project Final Report: LGBQTI Homelessness, Risks, Resilience, and Access to Services in Victoria'.
- 36. http://www.homelessnessnsw.org.au/resources/cultural-diversity-homelessness
- Domestic Violence NSW, Social Housing in NSW: Domestic Violence NSW Submissions, https://www.facs.nsw.gov.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0016/317032/Domestic-Violence-NSW.pdf
- 38. http://www.homelessnessnsw.org.au/resources/cultural-diversity-homelessness
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data.



- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2017), Specialist Homelessness Services Annual Report 2016–17, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/contents/clients-in-regional-and-remote-areas-.
- 42. Australian Bureau of Statistics (2011), Census of Population and Housing: Estimating homelessness: Table 1 Homeless Operational Groups and Other Marginal Housing, Remoteness by State and Territory of usual residence–2011, ABS, ">http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/mf/2049.0>
- 43. Department of Family and Community Services, Social Housing Data 2015-16 and 2016-17, unpublished.
- Robyn Kennedy Consultants Pty Ltd (2013) Homelessness Action Plan Extended Evaluation Support for people at risk of eviction Summary Report, Housing NSW
- 45. Department of Family and Community Services, Social Housing Assistance 2015/16 Data Supplement.
- 46. Zaretzky, K et al., (2013) The cost of homelessness and the net benefits of homelessness programs: a national study, AHURI Final Report No. 205, Australian Housing and Urban Research: Melbourne, https://www.ahuri.edu. au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/2110/AHURI_Final_Report_No205_The-cost-of-homelessness-and-the-net-benefit-of-homelessness-programs-a-national-study.pdf>.
- Zaretzky, K et al., (2013) The cost of homelessness and the net benefits of homelessness programs: a national study, AHURI Final Report No. 205, Australian Housing and Urban Research: Melbourne, https://www.ahuri.edu. au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/2110/AHURI_Final_Report_No205_The-cost-of-homelessness-and-the-net-benefitof-homelessness-programs-a-national-study.pdf>.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, (2013) Exploring transitions between homelessness and public housing, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Canberra, https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/0e42e27a-c4f9-4bee-a6dd-4b0ac53a3eda/18692.pdf>.
- Crane M., Byrne K., Fu R., Lipmann B., Mirabelli F., Rota-Bartelink A., Ryan M., Shea R., Watt H., and Warnes AM.; *The Causes of Homelessness in Later Life: Findings From a 3-Nation Study*, The Journals of Gerontology: Series B, Volume 60, Issue 3, 1 May 2005, Pages S152–S159, <https://academic.oup.com/psychsocgerontology/article/60/3/S152/559401>
- ARTD Consultants (2017) Reducing exits into homelessness from government services, NSW government workshop - 20 July 2017.
- Cited in Sally Garvan Consulting (2016) People Leaving Custody, final report for NSW Department of Family & Community Services.
- Baldry, E., McDonnell, D., Maplestone, P. and Peeters, M. (2004) *The role of housing in preventing re-offending*, AHURI Research and Policy Bulletin No. 36, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/research-and-policy-bulletins/36>.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2016) Specialist Homelessness Services 2015-16: Clients leaving care, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services/contents/client-groups-of-interest/clients-leaving-care-.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2017), Specialist Homelessness Services Annual Report 2016–17 https:// www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/contents/clientgroups-of-interest/clients-exiting-custodial-arrangements
- Sotiri, M., and Faraguna, A., (2016) Shown the exit: A snapshot of the issues facing people leaving custody in New South Wales (NSW) in 2016, Parity Vol. 29 Issue 10.
- NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research (2017) NSW Custody Statistics Quarterly Update June 2017, http://www.bocsar.nsw.gov.au/Pages/bocsar_custody_stats/bocsar_custody_stats.aspx.
- 57. Taylor Fry report for FACS (2017) Homelessness Pathways using Out of Home Care data.
- Mackenzie, D. & Thielking, M. (2013). The Geelong project: A community of schools and youth services model for early intervention. Melbourne: Swinburne Institute for Social Research, Swinburne University. http://www.thegeelongproject.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/The-Geelong-Project-FAHCSIA1.pdf>

- Muir, K. Moran, M., Michaux, F., Findlay, S., Meltzer, A., Mason, C., Ramia, I. and Heaney, R. (2017) The opportunities, risks and possibilities of social impact investment for housing and homelessness, AHURI Final Report 288, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, http://www.ahuri.edu.au/ research/final-reports/288, doi: 10.18408/ahuri-7110101.>
- Muir, K. Moran, M., Michaux, F., Findlay, S., Meltzer, A., Mason, C., Ramia, I. and Heaney, R. (2017) The opportunities, risks and possibilities of social impact investment for housing and homelessness, AHURI Final Report 288, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, http://www.ahuri.edu.au/ research/final-reports/288, doi: 10.18408/ahuri-7110101.>
- Gerencer, E., and Preston, P. Reducing Homelessness Through Commercial Incentive for Real Estate Agents http://yfoc.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Shared-Value-Initiative-Case-Study-Phil-Preston.pdf.
- 62. Muir, K., Marjolin, A. & Adams, S. (2015), Eight years on the fringe: what has it meant to be severely or fully financially excluded in Australia? Sydney, Australia: Centre for Social Impact for the National Australia Bank.. < http://www.csi.edu.au/media/uploads/Eight_Years_on_the_Fringe_FINAL_FINAL.pdf>
- Zaretzky, K., and Flatau, P. (2015) The cost effectiveness of Australian tenancy support programs for formerly homeless people, AHURI Final Report No.252, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne http://www.ahuri.edu.au/publications/projects/p82028>.
- Zaretzky, K. et al. (2013) The cost of homelessness and the net benefits of homelessness programs: a national study, AHURI Final Report No. 205, Australian Housing and Urban Research: Melbourne.
- 65. Gaetz, S., Scott, F., and Gulliver, T., (2013) *Housing First in Canada: Supporting Communities to End Homelessness*, Canadian Homelessness Research Network Press, Toronto.
- Conroy, C., Bower, M., Flatau, P., Zaretzky, K., Eardley, T., Burns, L., (2014) Mission Australia The MISHA Project: From Homelessness to Sustained Housing 2010-2013: Research Report .
- 67. Pinkstone, R. (2016) Housing first as a solution to chronic homelessness: Reflections from a community housing provider, Parity Vol. 29 No. 10.
- Mission Australia (2016) Five Years Common Ground, ">https://www.missionaustralia.com.au/documents/miscellaneous/668-common-ground-5-year-anniversary/file>.
- Koh H.K., O'Connell J.J., (2016) 'Improving Health Care for Homeless People', JAMA 316 (24) <https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2594705.
- Auerswald C.L., Lin J.S., Parriott A. (2016) Six-year mortality in a street-recruited cohort of homeless youth in San Francisco, California, PeerJ 4:e1909, https://peerj.com/articles/1909/>.
- 71. Homelessness NSW (2016) Inner city Sydney registry week 2015 report.
- Phillips, R. and Parsell, C. (2013) What role does assertive outreach play in ending homelessness for people who are sleeping rough?, AHURI Research and Policy Bulletin No. 161, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/research-and-policy-bulletins/161.
- Phillips, R., Parsell, C., Seage, N. and Memmott, P. (2011) Assertive outreach, AHURI Positioning Paper No. 136, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/position-papers/136.
- 74. Baker, C. K., Billhardt, K. A., Warren, J., Rollins, C., & Glass, N. E. (2010). Domestic violence, housing instability, and homelessness: A review of housing policies and program practices for meeting the needs of survivors. http://socialsciences.people.hawaii.edu/publications_lib/Baker%20et%20al%202010.pdf>
- 75. Cash, R., O'Donnell, M., Varker, T., Armstrong, R., Di Censo, L., Zanatta, P., Murnane, A., Brophy, L., & Phelps, A. (2014). *The Trauma and Homelessness Service Framework*, Report prepared by the Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health in collaboration with Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health and VincentCare Victoria.
- 76. Cash, R., O'Donnell, M., Varker, T., Armstrong, R., Di Censo, L., Zanatta, P., Murnane, A., Brophy, L., & Phelps, A. (2014). *The Trauma and Homelessness Service Framework*, Report prepared by the Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health in collaboration with Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health and VincentCare Victoria.



- 77. Department of Family And Community Services (2016), Social Housing Waitlist data.
- Victoria Government, Safe and Stable Housing https://www.vic.gov.au/familyviolence/rolling-action-plan/safetyand-support/safe-and-stable-housing.html>.
- Sydney Women's Homeless Alliance (2017) Older Women's Studio Development Project: A co-design project to inform design guidelines suitable to the housing needs of single homeless older women, Homelessness NSW.
- Petersen, M. and Parsell, C., (2014) Older Women's Pathways out of Homelessness in Australia, University of Queensland Report for the Mercy Foundation.
- 81. Foyer Foundation (2017) <http://foyer.org.au/foyers-in-australia/>.
- Breckenridge, J., Walden, I. & Flax, G. (2014) Staying Home Leaving Violence Evaluation Final Report, Gendered Violence Research Network, UNSW, Australia.
- Parsell, C., ten Have, C., Denton, M. and Walter, Z. (2016) 'Integrated Healthcare and Supportive Housing, Prepared for Micah Projects-September 2016', Institute for Social Science Research, Queensland http://micahprojects.org. au/assets/docs/Publications/2017-Integrated-Healthcare-and-Supportive-Housing.pdf>
- Brackertz, N., Fotheringham, M., Winter, I. (2016) Effectiveness of the homelessness service system, AHURI Research Paper, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, <https://www.ahuri.edu.au/ research/research-papers/effectiveness-of-the-homelessness-service-system.>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Specialist Homelessness Services data collections 2016/17, NSW, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-2016-17/data>.
- 87. Bateman, J., Henderson, C., & Kezelman, C. (2013). Trauma-informed care and practice: Towards a cultural shift in policy reform across mental health and human services in Australia. A national strategic direction. Position paper and recommendations of the National Trauma-Informed Care and Practice Advisory Working Group. Lilyfield: Mental Health Coordinating Council. < http://www.mhcc.org.au/media/32045/ticp_awg_position_paper_v_44_final___07_11_13.pdf >
- 88. Bateman, J., Henderson, C., & Kezelman, C. (2013). Trauma-informed care and practice: Towards a cultural shift in policy reform across mental health and human services in Australia. A national strategic direction. Position paper and recommendations of the National Trauma-Informed Care and Practice Advisory Working Group. Lilyfield: Mental Health Coordinating Council. < http://www.mhcc.org.au/media/32045/ticp_awg_position_paper__v_44_ final___07_11_13.pdf >
- Flatau, P., Conroy, E., Clear, A. and Burns, L. (2010) The integration of homelessness, mental health and drug and alcohol services in Australia, AHURI Positioning Paper No. 132, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, Melbourne, http://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/position-papers/132.
- Brackertz, N., Fotheringham, M., Winter, I. (2016) Effectiveness of the homelessness service system, AHURI Research Paper, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited, Melbourne, <https://www.ahuri.edu.au/ research/research-papers/effectiveness-of-the-homelessness-service-system.>
- 91. Bateman, J., Henderson, C., & Kezelman, C. (2013). Trauma-informed care and practice: Towards a cultural shift in policy reform across mental health and human services in Australia. A national strategic direction. Position paper and recommendations of the National Trauma-Informed Care and Practice Advisory Working Group. Lilyfield: Mental Health Coordinating Council. < http://www.mhcc.org.au/media/32045/ticp_awg_position_paper__v_44_ final___07_11_13.pdf >
- 92. Cash, R., O'Donnell, M., Varker, T., Armstrong, R., Di Censo, L., Zanatta, P., Murnane, A., Brophy, L., & Phelps, A. (2014) *The Trauma and Homelessness Service Framework*, Prepared by the Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health in collaboration with Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health and VincentCare Victoria.

- Cash, R., O'Donnell, M., Varker, T., Armstrong, R., Di Censo, L., Zanatta, P., Murnane, A., Brophy, L., & Phelps, A. (2014) *The Trauma and Homelessness Service Framework*, Prepared by the Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health in collaboration with Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health and VincentCare Victoria.
- Hopper E.K., Bassuk E.L., Olivet J., Shelter from the storm: trauma-informed care in homelessness services setting. The Open Health Services and Policy Journal. 2010, 3: 80-100. < http://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/ cenfdthy.pdf>
- 95. Bateman, J., Henderson, C., & Kezelman, C. (2013). Trauma-informed care and practice: Towards a cultural shift in policy reform across mental health and human services in Australia. A national strategic direction. Position paper and recommendations of the National Trauma-Informed Care and Practice Advisory Working Group. Lilyfield: Mental Health Coordinating Council. < http://www.mhcc.org.au/media/32045/ticp_awg_position_paper_v_44_final___07_11_13.pdf >
- 96. Special Taskforce on Domestic and Family Violence in Queensland. (2015). Not now; not ever: Putting an end to domestic violence in Queensland. Brisbane: Queensland Government. < https://www.communities.qld.gov.au/ resources/gateway/campaigns/end-violence/about/special-taskforce/dfv-report-vol-one.pdf>
- Flatau, P., Conroy, E., Clear, A. and Burns, L., 2010. The integration of homelessness, mental health and drug and alcohol services in Australia. < https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/position-papers/132>



